BEFORE TEE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

TELECO COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY

Appellant,

v.

1.4

1.1

SUSAN F. CLARK, J. TERRY DEASON,)
JOE GARCIA, JULIA L. JOHNSON, and)
DIANE K. KIESLING, as the)
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,)

Appellees.

APR 10 1996

VESTON ALLEGABLE COURT

By

Charles and Court

CASE NO. 87,316

APPEAL FROM FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION FINAL ORDERS IN DOCKET NO. 911214-TP

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT TELECO COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY

Jack G. Williams
Fla. Bar No. 159127
502 Harmon Avenue
P. 0. Box 2176
Panama City, Florida 32402-2176
(904) 763-5368

Suzanne Brownless Florida Bar No. 309591 3111-B Paul Russell Road Suite 202 Tallahassee, Florida32301 (904) 877-5200

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

1. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an appeal taken from Proposed Agency Action and Final Orders of the Florida Public Service Commission (FPSC), interpreting §§364.02(7), 364.02(8), 364.33, Fla. Stat. (1993), and Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-4.004 and finding that Teleco Communications Company (Teleco) was a Local Exchange Company (LEC) operating without a certificate of necessity and prohibiting its continued ownership of certain complex inside wiring.

2. PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN LOWER TRIBUNAL.

This case was initiated by the FPSC on December 21, 1991 in response to an order of Circuit Court Judge Judy Pittman issued three days before. [R. 9, 163-64] Judge Pittman was the presiding judge in a breach of contract suit brought by Teleco against the Regency Towers Owners Association (RTOA) for failure to pay for the lease and maintenance of complex inside wire at the Regency Towers, condominium located in Panama City, Florida. Teleco Communications Company v. Regency Towers Owners Association, Case Judge Pittman referred "any matter in these No. 91-1158. proceedings which would be the subject matter of the jurisdiction" of the FPSC to that body while retaining jurisdiction over the contract issues raised in the pleadings. [R. 1631

On January 1, 1993, the FPSC issued Proposed Agency Action Order No. PSC-93-0009-FOF-TP (Order 93-0009) inwhichthe FPSC made a series of interconnected findings. First, that the complex inside wiring connecting the switching equipment at Regency Towers

with individual phones in the condominium units routinely rented through the condominium's rental program fell within the definition of "telecommunications facility" in §364.02(8), Fla. Stat, (1993). [R. 101 Second, that ownership of this complex wire brought Teleco within the definition of "telecommunications company" pursuant to §366.02(7), Fla. Stat. (1993). [R. 101 Third, that Teleco did not have, nor could it receive, a certificate of necessity to operate a "telecommunications company", commonly referred to as a Local Exchange Company (LEC). [R. 101 Fourth, that Teleco would not be fined pursuant to §364.285, Fla. Stat. (1993). [R. 101 finally, that Teleco must immediately give Southern Bell Telephone Company (Southern Bell) all complex wire connecting the switching equipment to permanent residents or rental units not in the condominiums rental program and give all complex wire connecting the switching equipment to the rental units in the rental program to RTOA. [R. 11]

On January 22, 1993 Teleco filed a timely objection to PAA Order No. 93-0009 and requested an evidentiary hearing. [R. 141 RTOA filed for intervention in the docket on July 28, 1993 and was granted intervention by Order No. PSC-93-1141-PCO-TP, issued on August 5, 1993. [R. 30] Pursuant to agreement by the parties, a formal §120.57(1) hearing was waived and two issues were set for an informal §120.57(2) hearing: "Do Teleco Communications Company's operations at the Regency Towers Condominium constitute operating as a telecommunications company in violation of 1364.33 and Rule 25-4.004?" and "If Teleco is operating as a telecommunications

company, what is the appropriate action that should be taken?" [R. 33, 341

Oral arguments were held in which Teleco and RTOA participated on September 1, 1993, followed by each party's written brief and Teleco's Statement of Issues and Positions filed on October 4, 1993. [R. 39, 54, 671 One year later, on October 21, 1994, the FPSC voted on the issues before it and issued Final Order No. PSC-94-1304-FOF-TP (Order No. 94-1304). [R. 821 Order No. 94-1304 essentially repeated the findings of PAA Order No. 93-0009. [R. 89-901 Teleco filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of this order on November 4, 1994 and Request for Oral Argument. [R. 951 RTOA filed its response in opposition to both motions on November 15, 1994. [R. 971

On July 1, 1995, Chapter 95-403, Laws of Florida, deregulating the telecommunications industry in Florida became effective. On July 20, 1995, the FPSC Staff filed an agenda conference recommendation on Teleco's motion for reconsideration. [R. 1091 On December 1, 1995, Teleco filed a request for official recognition of Order No. PSC-95-1114-FOF-TP, issued on September 6, 1995 (Order No. 95-1114). [R. 1711 After several deferrals, the FPSC finally voted on the Staff's recommendation on December 5, 1995, and issued Order No. PSC-96-0007-FOF-TP (Order No. 96-0007) denying reconsideration on January 2, 1996. [R. 177] Teleco filed a timely notice of appeal to this court of PAA Order No. 93-0009, Final Order No. 95-1114, and Order No. 96-0007 on January 31, 1996. [R. 1891

3. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

Regency Towers is a 340 unit condominium constructed by Major Development Company (MDC) in Panama City, Florida. [R. 8, 831 All 340 units are privately owned with the majority (approximately 145) rented through a rental property program administered by RTOA. The remaining units are either owner-occupied or on the market for sale. [R. 83, 81 From November of 1982 until September of 1988, Advisors Realty, a real estate and property management firm owned by MDC, managed the rental units for the Regency Towers Owners Association (RTOA), a condominium association representing the unit owners at Regency Towers. [R. 831

When the condominium was constructed, Southern Bell provided the private business exchange switching equipment (PBX) and the inside wiring connecting that PBX equipment to each complex individual condominium unit and to Southern Bell's network. [Ex. 1 at 1] This wiring consisted of two sets of cables: Cable 1 consisting of 600 pairs of cable used for all private (owneroccupied) units and 170 rental units in Phase #2 of the condominium and, Cable 3 consisting of 600 pairs of cable connecting the Southern Bell telephone cables on the right of way outside of the condominium with Mechanical Room No. 2. [Ex. 1 at 11 This complex inside wiring was provided to RTOA by Southern Bell for a charge of \$1,072.00 per month in February of 1985. [R. 841

In early 1985 spurred by complaints from condominium residents that the PBX equipment provided by Southern Bell did not allow direct inward dialing to each unit, the Board of Directors of RTOA

authorized Advisors Realty to acquire both a new PBX from the newly deregulated telephone equipment market which would allow direct inward dialing without an operator's assistance and the complex inside wiring needed to connect that equipment to individual condominium units. [R. 84; Ex. 2 at 61 RTOA authorized Advisors Realty to find someone to both purchase the complex inside wire from Southern Bell and to maintain it because the Board of Directors wanted only one entity to be responsible for telephone problems at the condominium. [R. 141 By August of 1985 new PBX equipment had been installed and RTOA had signed a written contract with Paultronics, Inc. for the lease of that equipment. [Ex. 2 at 71

However, although Paultronics had been in constant negotiation with Southern Bell regarding the purchase of the complex inside wire associated with the PBX, it was not until May of 1986 that Paultronics was finally able to reach an agreement to buy portions of Cable 1 containing 360 pairs of wire from Southern Bell. [R. 84] Southern Bell refused to sell any of Cable 3 and those portions of Cable 1 used to serve permanent residents of the condominium thereby necessitating the installation of Cable 2 in order to place the rental units in Phase 2 of the condominium on the PBX. [Ex. 1 at 1] The purchase price negotiated by Paultronics for the complex inside wiring Southern Bell was willing to sell was \$11,566. [R. 841]

Once Paultronics had an agreement with Southern Bell to sell the inside wire, Paultronics offered RTOA three options. The first

option was to simply lease the inside wire and obtain maintenance service on that wire for \$850.00 per month. The second option was to enter into an installment sales contract for the wire conditioned on the payment 84 installments of \$1,072 with title transferred at the end of the contract term. This option also provided that Teleco would maintain the wire throughout the 84 month contract term. The third option was to purchase the wire outright from Paultronics. [Ex. 2 at 14, 19] The Board ultimately decided to buy the wire and wire maintenance on the installment plan proposed by Paultronics and orally contracted with Paultronics to pay \$1,072 per month as of May 16, 1986. [Ex. 2 at 191]

In 1986, shortly after the Board's decision, Paultronics assigned the rights to its lease of the PBX and sale and maintenance of the inside wiring to Teleco. [R. 841 Pursuant to the terms of the oral installment sales contract, Teleco installed Cable 2 and Cable 4 creating a small switchboard at the guardhouse.

[Ex. 1 at 11 From June of 1986 until September of 1988, RTOA authorized payment of \$1,072 per month to Teleco for the purchase and maintenance of the inside wiring with the approximately \$29,176 paid to Teleco in total. [R. 851]

In September of 1988, RTOA took over the management of the condominium, fired Advisors Realty and stopped paying Teleco for both the lease of the PBX and the purchase and maintenance of the inside wiring. [R. 85] In November of 1988, RTOA contacted the FPSC about its dispute with Teleco over both the PBX and the complex inside wiring. [R. 8, 85]

Throughout the term of the lease purchase agreement, Southern Bell has owned all of the cable in Cable 3 connecting the condominium to the Bell telephone network and substantial portions of Cable 2 which connect Mechanical Room 2 to Mechanical Room 3 and serve all owner-occupied units in the condominium. [Ex. 1 at 2] All units, both private and rental units, have access to Southern Bell and such access has never been denied or impeded in any way. [R. 841 From 1986 until the present, RTOA has always controlled the operation of the complex wiring and all billing associated with the use of the PBX and its associated wire either directly or through its property management agent, Advisors Realty. [T. 541]

SUMMARY OF ARGTJMENT

The orders of the FPSC in this case must be reversed for several reasons. First, neither RTOA nor Teleco is subject to the jurisdiction of the FPSC by operation of the "transient exception", the nature of installment sales contracts and the language of §§364.33, 364.02(7) and 364.02(8), Fla. Stat. (1993). Second, the passage of Chapter 95-403, Laws of Florida, has made the central issue on which this case turns, the inability of Teleco to receive a certificate of necessity, moot since Teleco can now receive a certificate as an Alternative Local Exchange Company (ALEC). And finally, even if RTOA and Teleco are subject to the FPSC's jurisdiction as telecommunications companies, the FPSC does not have jurisdiction over private contracts between regulated entities nor between regulated and unregulated entities. As such, the FPSC fashion a contractual remedy nor render a decision on whether a contract is valid and enforceable. That being the case, the ordering paragraphs of the FPSC's decisions on review here requiring Teleco to give its inside wire to RTOA and Southern Bell are beyond the FPSC's express or implied statutory authority and must be stricken.

ARGUMENT

I. RTOA IS COMPLETELY EXEMPT FROM FPSC JURISDICTION UNDER THE "TRANSIENT EXCEPTION".

The FPSC has consistently taken the position that it was lawful for RTOA to own the inside wiring used to serve rental units in the condominium. [R. 89-901 Indeed, the FPSC has required Teleco to give its wire to RTOA in order to remedy the fact that Teleco was uncertificated, and under the law in effect until July 1, 1995, uncertificatable. [R. 92]

The ability of RTOA to own this wire without the certificate of necessity required by \$364.33, Fla. Stat. (19931, is due to the administratively developed "transient exception". This exception was first officially articulated by the FSPC in 1982 and has been consistently followed ever since although the rationale supporting this exception and its jurisdictional nature appears to have evolved over time.

This "exception" was originally articulated as a failure to

¹ In re: Resale of Wide Area Telephone Service and Message
Toll Service, Docket No. 810239-TP, Order No. 11206, issued on
September 29, 1982; 82 F.P.S.C 9:190 (1982).

In re: Petition for rulemaking of Donald Pevsner relating to resale of telephone services by hotels and motels, Docket No. 820315-TP, Order No. 13367, issued on June 1, 1984, at 2; 84 F.P.S.C. 6:36, 37 (1984); In re: Investigation of joint and shared telephone service in Florida, Docket No. 851005-TP, Order No. 15989, issued on April15, 1986, at 3-4; 86 F.P.S.C. 4:214, 216-17 (1986).

meet the statutory definition of "telephone company" under \$364.02(4), Fla. Stat. (1981), and is more accurately labeled an "exemption". The distinction between the two is important. If resale of this type does not meet the statutory definition, it is nonjurisdictional. If, on the other hand, resale of this type does meet the statutory definition, the FPSC has jurisdiction but simply declines to exercise it. The later is apparently the position now

The definition of "telephone company" found in 364.02(4), Fla. Stat. (1981), is "every corporation, company, association, joint stock association, partnership, and person and their lessees, trustees, or receivers appointed by any court whatsoever, and every city or town owning, operating, or managing any telephone line or part of telephone line used in the conduct of the business of affording telephonic communication service to the public for hire within this state." This definition evolved into the definition of "telecommunications company" found in §364.02(7), Fla. Stat. (1993) at issue here. Likewise the definition of "telephone line" found in §364.02(5), Fla. Stat. (1981), evolved into the definition of "telecommunications facility" found in §364.02(8), Fla. Stat. (1993) at issue here.

 $^{^4}$ In Order No. 11206 the FPSC appears to find that this type of telephone resale does not bring hotel and motel owners within the statutory definition of "telephone company" because the service is not offered to "the general public at large". 82 F.P.S.C. 9:190, 201-02 (1982). Order No. 15989 takes a different tack finding that this type of resale does not meet the statutory definition of "telephone company" since such resale does not "compete with nor duplicate local exchange service." 86 F.P.S.C. 4:214, 216 (1986). In addition to these statutory considerations, the FPSC cites four public policy reasons why regulation of this type of resale is not required: resale is ancillary to the primary business being conducted; the sheer number of such resales exceed the capacity of the FPSC to regulate; this type of resale is not profitable; and consumers will be protected from price gouging by the free market and regulation by the Department of Business Regulation of hotels and motels. 82 F.P.S.C. at 201-02; 84 F.P.S.C. 6:36-37 (1984); 86 F.P.S.C. 4:214, 216-17 (1986).

erroneously taken by the FPSC.5

Not only is the clear language of Orders Nos. 11206, 15989 and 13367 directly in conflict with this position, but consistent with other jurisdictional exemptions, RTOA and others similarly situated are not even required to register or to make any type of "informational filings" with the FPSC.⁶

It is settled case law that the FPSC has only the powers, duties and authority conferred expressly or impliedly by statute. Florida Bridge Co. v. Bevis (Florida Bridge), 363 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1978). RTOA, and others like it, have been found by the FPSC not to be "telephone companies". Once that finding has been made, the FPSC has no ability to regulate RTOA's operations. Period. Whatever RTOA does or does not do is simply beyond the FPSC's authority to control.

II. THE CONTRACT CREATED BY RTOA AND PAULTRONICS/TELECO IS AN INSTALLMENT SALES CONTRACT GIVING RTOA EQUITABLE TITLE TO THE INSIDE WIRE.

Eight of the ten affiants referenced in Exhibit 2 state that RTOA's board members authorized their property management company, Advisors Realty, to acquire both new telephone switching (PBX)

The FPSC now states that "while it has jurisdiction over the provision of telephone service to transient guests, it has declined to impose certification and other requirements on providers of such service." [R. 90 at Footnote 31. See also the FPSC's characterization of Order No. 11206 as one in "which the Commission declined to impose extensive regulation over the provision of telephone service to transient guests." [R. 891]

⁶ §367.022(4), Fla. Stat. (1995)

equipment and the inside wire associated with it. [Ex. 2 at 1-2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 14, 15-16, 191 This fact was stipulated to by all parties to the docket in Prehearing Order No. 94-1304. [Stipulation 13; R. 84] It is also uncontested in the record that RTOA was given the option to purchase the inside wire outright and decided instead to purchase the wire from Paultronics, Teleco's predecessor, over a period of 84 months with title of the wire passing to RTOA upon the payment of 84 installments of \$1,072. [R. 84; Stipulation 181 Concomitant with the purchase of the wire was an agreement between Paultronics and RTOA that Paultronics would maintain the wire throughout this 84 month installment purchase period. [R. 84; Stipulation 181

It is also uncontested that after the purchase/maintenance contract's assignment to Teleco, Teleco purchased the 360 cable pairs of inside wire from Southern Bell in May of 1986 for \$11,566.

[R. 84; Stipulation 141 Southern Bell knew that RTOA was not the purchaser of the wire at the time of its sale in May of 1986 and certainly knew that Teleco would have to install additional inside wiring in order to connect all of the rental units in Regency Towers to the PBX. [R. 84; Stipulation 15; Ex. 1 at 11 Based on these facts, it is a fair assumption that at the time of the sale Southern Bell believed that the ownership of the inside wiring by Teleco was a lawful act. It is also a fair assumption that

Southern Bell believed that the inside wire was its to sell.'

The relevant terms of the installment sales contract between Paultronics/Teleco and RTOA are analogous to that of an agreement for deed. Under an agreement for deed, the seller continues to hold legal title in trust for the purchaser subject to the contractual duty to covey title to the purchaser at the time all payments are completed. Cain & Bultman, Inc. v. Miss Sam, Inc., 409 So.2d 114, 118 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) Under this type of land purchase agreement, the seller continues to hold legal title throughout the contract term while the purchaser is considered to hold equitable title to the property. Id. at 119. Should the seller fail to convey legal title when the total purchase price has been paid pursuant to the contract terms, the purchaser can request that the court convey legal title to the owner. Id.

Courts have consistently treated this type of contract for deed as the equivalent of a mortgage where legal and equitable title is passed to the purchaser who then executes a note and mortgage back to the seller to secure the unpaid portion of the

This is contrary to the FPSC's assertions that when inside wiring was deregulated at state and federal levels, "the existing embedded inside wire was transferred to the relevant premises owner" with the outstanding investment recovered from ratepayers. [R. 1161 Southern Bell, the largest telecommunications company in the state, was clearly in a much better position than Teleco to know the legal status of this sales transaction. Teleco had no reason to doubt Southern Bell's expertise in this area and every reason to believe that Southern Bell held the title to the wire and that it could sell that inside wire to Teleco legally. Teleco would also argue that although the FPSC's statement may in fact be true, at the time this sale took place in 1986, the issue was not without doubt at both the state and the federal levels.

purchase price.' White v. T. H. Brousseau, 566 So. 2d 832, 835-36 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Mid-State Investment Corporation v. O'Steen, 133 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961), cert. denied, 136 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1961).

The primary function of this type of time sales agreement is to state the terms of a binding agreement to transfer title upon payment in full. 409 So.2d at 120. This type of agreement meets the definition of lease-purchase agreement found in §944.02(7), Fla. Stat. (1995): "an installation sales contract which requires regular payments with an interest charge included and which provides that the lessee receive title to the property upon final payment."

The uncontested facts in this case create such a situation: one in which Teleco held title to the inside wire it purchased from Southern Bell and to the wire that it installed pursuant to the terms of a lease-purchase agreement/installation sales contract where title to the inside wire would pass to RTOA when 84 payments of \$1,072 had been made. That being the case, RTOA held equitable title to the inside wire from the moment the contract was entered into with Teleco. Simply stated, this installment sales contract was a device to secure a loan to RTOA for the purchase of the inside wire acquired from Southern Bell and that installed by

 $^{^{8}}$ For example, the purchaser holding a contract for deed has been afforded the right to redemption of the right to legal title by payment of all sums due, and the right to an equity action similar to a traditional foreclosure suit of a mortgage lien. 409 So.2d at 119-120.

Teleco.9

III. TELECO IS NOT A "TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY" SINCE RTOA

HAS CONSISTENTLY MAINTAINED OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL OF THE INSIDE

WIRE.

The FPSC's rationale in this case turns on who holds legal title to the inside wire, equating legal title with "ownership" and the ability to exercise "control" over the wire via repossession.

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