IN THE FLORIDA	FILED
	<b>31</b> D J. WHITE MAY <b>6</b> 1996
TELECO COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY	OLIERK, SUPREME COURT
Appellant,	) ) Office Deputy Chark
v.	) CASE NO. <b>87,3</b> 16
SUSAN F. CLARK, etc. et al.,	) ) )
Appellee.	j

# ANSWER BRIEF OF REGECNY TOWERS OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

Norman H. Horton, Jr., Florida Bar No. 156386
Floyd R. Self, Florida Bar No. 608025
Messer, Caparello, Madsen, Goldman & Metz, P.A.
P.O. Box 1876
Tallahassee, FL 32302-1876
Telephone: 904-222-0720

Attorneys for Regency Towers Owners Association

###

#### **INTRODUCTION AND REFERENCES**

Regency Towers Owners Association Inc. ("RTOA" hereafter) herewith submits its answer Brief to the Initial Brief of Teleco Communications Company ("Teleco"). References to the parties are as cited and references to the Florida Public Service Commission are "FPSC" References to the Brief of Teleco are cited as "Brief p. " and to the record or transcript as "R " or "TR " respectively."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Teleco has presented a fairly correct statement of the case and facts for purposes of this review and RTOA would not burden the record with an unnecessary version of the case and facts. However, Teleco has characterized as fact the existence of "fmancing arrangements" "lease purchase arrangements" and "installment sale arrangements" and RTOA would ask the court to recognize that these are characterizations and assertions of Teleco and RTOA does not agree with these "facts".

With this exception, RTOA would accept the statement of the case and facts to the extent that they portray to the Court how this case has proceeded.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Public Service Commission has correctly determined Teleco to be a telecommunications company operating without proper authority. Teleco owned and operated a telecommunications company by reason of its ownership of inside wire and the leasing of that wire to RTOA. Such activity constitutes the provision of telecommunication service requiring certification by \$364.33. F.S. Furthermore, Teleco had no claim to any exception or exemption by reason of its relationship with RTOA or through its own right. Further, the assertion that this case has been made moot by reason of the enactment of the Telecommunications Act of 1995 is without basis and contrary to the specific provision of that Act. Finally the penalty imposed by the PSC was within their authority and does not constitute an abuse on their part.

#### **AREUMENT**

I. TELECO COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY'S OPERATIONS CONSTITUTE OPERATING AS A TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY CONTRARY TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 364.F.S.

In points I, II and III of its Initial Brief, Teleco has presented arguments which are so intertwined that for ease of response, RTOA will address them at the same time under this point. Essentially the arguments presented by Teleco are that it is not a telephone company under Chapter 364 either by way of some association with RTOA which gives rise to Teleco being able to claim an exemption or because the "contract" between Teleco and RTOA places ownership of the wire at issue here with RTOA (Brief **p. 11,** 17). These are the same arguments made to the PSC **(R87, 89).** 

Given these same arguments, the PSC nevertheless found Teleco to have been operating as a telephone company without authority in violation of the provisions of section 364.33, Florida Statutes.

Disposition of the question presented to the PSC was relatively simple. Section 364.33 F.S. provides in part:

A person may not begin the construction or operation of any telecommunications facility, or an extension thereof for the purpose of providing telecommunications services to the public, or acquire ownership or control thereof, in whatever manner, including the acquisition, transfer or assignment of majority organizational control or controlling stock ownership, without prior approval.

As defined by Section **364.02(8)**, a "telecommunications facility" includes:

"Telecommunications facility" includes real estate, easements, apparatus, property, and routes used and operated to provide two-way telecommunications service to the public for hire within this state.

The stipulated facts upon which the Commission made its determination included, in part, that Paultronics, Inc. purchased 360 pairs of station wire from Southern Bell for \$11,566 in May 1986 (Stip. 14 R84); the purchase price was paid by Teleco (Stip. 15 R84); Paultronics assigned its rights to the wire to Teleco in 1986 (Stip. 16 R84) and finally, RTOA would make payments for 84 months with "ownership" reverting to the RTOA at the end of the 84 months (Stip. 18 R84) and RTOA did make payments to Teleco for a period of time (Stip. 19 R84). Plainly, Teleco owned the wire, the facility, and leased that wire to a third party. To now assert otherwise is simply not consistent with the facts and representations stipulated to the Commission. In view of the requirements of Chapter 364 cited above and the evidence, the Commission could not have done any less than they did.

Notwithstanding the factual and legal basis for the PSC action, Teleco continues to argue that they are not a telephone company first either because of some exemption or secondly because they do not own the wire (Brief **p**. 9-11, 17). First Teleco argues that RTOA is exempt from PSC jurisdiction because RTOA would qualify for a transient exception to the certification requirements of Chapter 364 (Brief p. 11). Teleco says that what RTOA does or does not do is beyond the authority of the PSC to control (Brief **p**. 11). Undoubtedly all parties would agree with this, but it simply has no relevance whatsoever to what Teleco can or cannot do. It is not the action or exemption of RTOA that is at issue, it is Teleco. Teleco simply can not legitimize its actions because RTOA would or could have an exemption or exception from certification. The PSC has not attempted to control the activities of RTOA, but they did correctly **find** the activities of Teleco to be subject to PSC control.

There is likewise little support for Teleco to attempt to claim an exemption by virtue of the fact that it is providing service to an "exempt" telecommunications company. Section 364.02(7) exempts from PSC regulation those entities providing facilities exclusively to other certificated telephone companies. RTOA has no certificate from the PSC and is not a certificated telephone company. Teleco is not providing service to a certificated carrier; consequently there is no exemption available to Teleco in this instance. Teleco simply has no basis to claim any exemption, either through its own devices or through association with RTOA. Period.

Teleco next attempts to remedy its position by arguing that the arrangement with RTOA is little more than a lease purchase or financing arrangement (Brief p. 1 1-13). In the first place, the Commission did not accept this argument as there was absolutely no evidence to support such a contention . (R87) There are no documents, no contracts, no written agreements expressing any

intent that any arrangement between RTOA and Teleco was either a lease purchase or financing arrangement or an installment sale. (TR 18). Secondly, to now argue that RTOA had title and ownership to the wire is inconsistent with the facts stipulated by Teleco (R24). Even in the argument presented by Teleco, there is recognition that title reposed with Teleco, not with RTOA (Brief **p.** 14). Teleco owned the wire by any definition and leased it to RTOA. There is no basis for the assertion that this was merely a financing arrangement.

Given the facts before it, the PSC was presented with the question of whether Teleco was operating as a telephone company. After carefully considering the alternative arguments presented by Teleco, the Communication concluded that Teleco was indeed a telephone company. Teleco owned the wire, a telecommunications facility as defined by section 364.02, Florida Statutes and they operated that facility by leasing the wire to an unrelated third party. Teleco did so without a certificate and thus the PSC concluded they were in violation of section 364.33 F.S. (R 92)

The Commission here has performed its charge and given an interpretation of statutes which it is charged with enforcing. Similar activities have been **afforded** great weight by courts and courts generally defer to the agency even if there may be more than one interpretation so long as the interpretation is not clearly erroneous. Florida Cable Television Association v. Deason, 635So. 2d 14 (1994); Florida Interexchange Carriers Association v. Beard, 624 So. 2d 248 (1993); Nassau Power Corp. v. Beard, 601 So. 2d 1175 (1992); PW Venures Inc., v. Nichols, 533 So. 2d 281 (1980); Pan American World Airways v. PSC, 427 So. 2d 716 (1983); Ft. Pierce Utilities Authority v. Florida Public Service Commission, 388 So, 2d 103 1 (1980); Florida Power Corp. v. Department of Environmental Regulation, 481 So. 2d 684 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Brooks v. Anastasia Mosquito Control District 148 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963).

This case does not even lend itself to **more** than one interpretation. Teleco was operating as a telecommunications company. Teleco does not like the result of the Commission decision, and understandably so, but Teleco can not take the facts which were stipulated and construct any other result than was given.

## II. THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER 95403, LAWS OF FLORIDA, HAS NOT MADE THIS CASE MOOT.

While appellant has done a reasonably adequate job of explaining a very complex and sweeping change to the way by which telecommunications companies are regulated, Teleco has failed to cite one reason why its illegal acts committed years earlier should now be ignored. Similarly Teleco fails to point out that the first Commission order resolving the central issue was issued in 1993 • three years before the effective date of the Telecommunications Act of 1995 (Order PSC 93-0009-FOF-TP (R8)). The only reason that this case was pending when the new law became effective was because of a Petition for Reconsideration filed in November 1994 (R95). The Commission had entered its final order and the fact that the case was pending because of the request for reconsideration does not change that. The purpose of reconsideration is to bring to the attention of the Commission some material, relevant point of fact or law which was overlooked or was not considered. It is not an opportunity to reargue the case or to provide new material. Diamond Cab Co. v. King, 146 So, 2d 889 (Fla. 1962); Pingree v. Quantance 394 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). This is not a case where no decision had been rendered at the time of the decision.

Of significance also is the specific savings provision of the Telecommunications Act of 1995 contained in \$364.385 which Teleco also overlooks. Subsection (2) of this section provides in part:

Proceedings including judicial review pending on July 1, 1995, shall be governed by the law as it existed prior to the date on which this section becomes a law. No new proceedings governed by the law as it existed prior to January 1, 1995 shall be initiated after July 1, 1995. Any administrative adjudicatory proceeding which has not progressed to the stage of a hearing by July 1, 1995, may with the consent of all parties and the commission, be conducted in accordance with the law as it existed prior to January 1, 1996.

This proceeding was concluded in 1993 and even if the Commission had not entered its final order prior to the effective date of the new law the "savings clause" makes it clear that the pre-existing law would control the disposition of this proceeding. Absent a clear intent for legislation to operate retroactively, acts of the legislature will operate prospectively. Fleeman v. Case, 342 So. 2d 8 15 (Fla. 1977); Keystone Water Co, v. Bevas, 289 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1973); Greyhound Lines Inc. v. Yarborough, 275 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Lewis v. Creative Developers Ltd, 350 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Teleco would argue that the new law should be applied but the fact is that the Commission made its decision in 1993 and correctly applied the law in effect when the decision was rendered. Deltona Corp v. Florida Public Service Co-,220 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1969); Fogg v. Southeast Bank N. A., 473 So. 2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Brunner v. Board of Real Estate, 399 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). There is simply no legal basis or reason to apply the new law in this case.

Finally, Teleco asserts that they have now filed for an ALEC certificate so they can now compete in the emerging telecommunications industry. That's good and certainly one of the purposes for the new regulatory scheme is to encourage competition. That they will now become good corporate citizens and competitors does not change the fact that they were operating without appropriate authority in 1993. To reverse this case now rewards Teleco for past actions. Teleco

chose to act as a telecommunications company in 1993 without required authority and should be expected to bear the penalty.

## III. THE FPSC HAS THE AUTHORITY TO REQUIRE TELECO TO DIVEST ITSELF OF ITS INSIDE WIRE.

Teleco has correctly stated the standard of review of Commission orders when they come before this court to be that they are clothed with a presumption of validity and are just and reasonable. (Brief p. 20 - 21). Teleco has not overcome this presumption.

In this instance the Commission, upon considering whether to impose a **fine** upon Teleco as authorized by Chapter 364, determined instead to direct Teleco to return the wire to the rightful owners. Teleco argues that this is beyond the authority of the Commission and infringes on the contract issues that are before the Circuit Court. Not so. There remain issues relating to contractual matters which can only be resolved by the Circuit Court; the Commission has not made any attempt to determine damages or any other matter more appropriately before the court. Further, the Commission has applied its unique expertise to the facts and law and determined that the appropriate disposition of the violation was to return the wire to its rightful owners. This action foes not impair or prevent further proceedings and is well within the framework of the authority of the PSC. Florida Public Service Commission v. Bryson, 569 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1990); **Southern** Bell **Telephone and** Telegraph Co. v. **Mobile America Corporation**, 291 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1974); **Richter v. Florida Power Corporation**, 366 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979).

What the Commission has done is to recognize that without a certificate, Teleco had no authority to do that which it was doing and simply put the parties back where they were or should have been (R183-184). The Commission did not direct Teleco to make any refund to RTOA or to

make any payment of any kind but to ignore what Teleco did would be to permit Teleco to circumvent PSC jurisdiction. **H. Miller** and Sons Inc. v. **Hawkins.** 373 So 2d 913 (Fla. 1979).

The action taken by the Commission was well within its authority and does not infringe with the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court. Notwithstanding this, even if the Court concurs with Teleco on this point that is not sufficient basis or reason for reversing this order.

#### CONCJ JUSION

The order of the Commission properly interprets Chapter 364 and determines that Teleco was operating as a telephone company without authority. This case has not been made moot by the reason of the adoption of the Telecommunications Act of 1995, nor is the "penalty" imposed by the Commission beyond their authority. Consequently RTOA respectfully requests the Court to enter its opinion **affirming** the order of the PSC.

Respectfully submitted this 6th day of May, 1996.

Norman H. Horton, Jr., Florida Bar No. 1 6386

Floyd R. Self, Florida Bar No. 60802%<sup>3</sup>

Messer, Caparello, Madsen, Goldman & Metz, P.A.

P.O. Box 1876

Tallahassee, FL 32302-1876

Telephone: 904-222-0720

Attorneys for Regency Towers Owners Association